
Site M:26/10/13 

Jones/Peter/Muth House 

106 North Adams Street 

Built: 1825, addition c. 1860, enlargement 1940's Private 

The original four-room section of this 1825 house is 

unique in its construction, using squared, notched logs chinked 

with a lime and clay plaster. Beaded clapboard is nailed directly 

over the log frame. Of center hall plan, the entry has elaborate 

seven light continuous transom and four pane side-light. A 

colonnaded portico runs the full width of the original front 

facade, and dates from the early 20th century, but may have been 

a replacement for an earlier porch. The later addition at the 

west side made the house L-shaped. 

The original Federal-era house was built for the first 

Baptist minister of Rockville, Joseph H. Jones. Between 1859 

and 1930, it was owned by the allied Peter-Dawson family. 

George Peter was the scion of the powerful family whose number 

includea the first Mayor of Washington, generals and politicians. 

George Peter served as President of the Maryland Senate while 

occupying this house. 

Some alteration was made to the house in the 1940's, but 

its current owners are patiently rehabilitating and reconstructing 

the house to its near original condition. Much of the interior 

of the 1825 section is original (or compatible replacements) 

including flooring, stairways, some of the nine-over-six windows 

and adz~marked log joists in the cellar. 
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Maryland Historical Trust 
State Historic Sites Inventory Form 

1. Name (indicate pref erred name} 

historic Jones/Peter house 

and/or common Muth house 

2. Location 

street & number 106 North Adams Street 

city, town Rockville 

, st_a.t~ ,_ , Maryland 

3. Classification 
Category 

district-
7 building(s) 
_structure 
_site 

/ --._object 

Ownership 
-.JlUblic 

_v_ p nrivate 
_both 
Public Acquisition 
_in process 
_ being considered 
\,/"D.ot applicable 

_vicinity of 

. c.0,unty 

Status 
_Voccupied 
_ unoccupied 
~ork in progress 
Accessible 
_ yes: restricted 
_ yes: unrestricted 
-1.Lno 

Survey No. ,M: 
1
26/10/13 

I 

Magi No. 1650292304 

DOE ~yes no 

congressional district 

Montgomery 
'.. l ' - ' 

Present Use 
_agriculture 
_commercial 
_ educational 
_ entertainment 
_ government 
_ industrial 

_ mi!i!~,rY ·'" 

_ not for publication 

8 

_museum 
_park 
~ivate residence 
_religious 
_ scientific 
_ transportation 
-.-, other: 

4. Owo~r ol Property (give names and_ ~auir:i~. ~~dre.~s~e_s. ?t ~ owners) 

name Lee and Elizabeth Muth 
,·~,'-11·::1 _ f; ;; .. ". 1 -·.r 

street & numb~u. :· 11?_6. ~o_r_t~ Adams Street telephone. ,no. : . " 340-1769 

city, town 
Rockville state and zip code Mary land 20850 

5. Location of Legal Description 

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Montgomery County Land Records liber 5242 

street & number Montgomery County Courthouse folio 744 

city, town Rockville state Maryland 

&. Representation in Existing Historical surveys 

title 

date 
~· 

National Register - West Montgomery Ave. Historic District - 1974 
Locally designated his Loi ic dis LI ic L - 1974 
M-NCPPC - 1976 _J.cfederal ....JL'State ~ounty /1ocal 

.. pository for survey records 
City of Rockville 

city, town 
Rockville Maryland 20850 

state 



7~ Description 

Condition 
__ excellent 
~good 
__ fair 

__ deteriorated 
__ ruins 
__ unexposed 

Check one 
__ unaltered 
~ltered 

Chec~one 
____u6riginal site 
__ moved date of move 

Survey No.'M! 26/10/13' 

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its 
various elements as it exists today. 

Located on lots 63 and 64 of the original Town of Rockville, this house borders 
North Adams on its east side, but faces south. The L-shaped builging i~ ~vernacular 
expression of the early 19th century style, mixing Federai;and~Gre~K Revival architecture. 
It has a cross-hall four room main block to which has been added a mid-19th century 
Victorian wing .and a 20th century Classical Revival colonnaded portico. It is a rectangle, 
of two-stories over brick foundation. Its earliest (1825) section is constructed of 
hewn, squared logs; its later wing is of frame over stone and brick foundation. The 
entire house is covered with clapboard. There are interior brick chimneys at both ends 
of the original house and one interior chimney in the west (Victorian) wing. The gable 
roof is composition shingle with seamed tin on the porch. 

East Elevation 

The house closely borders North Adams Street at this elevation which is the narrow 
bottom·of the L-stem and the gable end. The gable roof is slightly splayed at the eaves. 
It is two bays wide with two nine-over-six shuttered windows on each floor. There is a 
parged brick bulkhead cellar entrance at ground level on the right side. 

South Elevation 

The house faces south with its main facade and entrance on this elevation which i~ 
the inner side of the "L". The 1825 main block is three bays wide, approximately 50 ±~ .c. 
in length. A wing at the west end projects south. A colonnaded portico one step up covers 
the entire length of this facade. This one story porch has three tapered Doric columns and 
one engaged pilaster supporting a seamed tin roof. This porch dates from the early 20th 
century (It is not known whether it replaced am earlier porch, al though maps/plats of the 
house do not show such a porch. See comments at end of description.). 

On the second story the center window is in 3 parts; above'it is an attic cross gable 
with an elliptical vent that has hood moulding. 

The main entrance is centered in the main block and has a large, paneled wooden door 
with full architrave. It is topped by a nine-light continuous transom with four-light 
sidelights. These sidelights are the original 1825 windows and have been covered with a 
clear glass panein molded frame for protection. 

The beaded clapboard on t,his facade is the original and is nailed directly to the 
chinked log frame. The roof and chimneys have been rebuilt/replaced and the left side 
paired windows are now 12-over-six. The right side windows are nine-over-six replacements, 
but are of the period and were removed from another period house. The mouldings and 
framings are original. 

West/Southwest .. Elevation 

The two story west wing was added between 1860-1878. The entrance door to this wing is 
at ·the end of the portico, -and at right angles to the main body of the house. It has ? full 
architrave, although of slightly different width lintel and, moulding than the main en 11ce. 
This wing was framed with unbeaded clapboard which is now being replaced by beaded wooa 
siding compatible with the extant clapboard on the main block. (continued) 



Description - 106 N. Adams Street, Rockville, MD 
(continued) 

West Elevation 
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A brick and stone one-story screened porch with asphalt shingle roof was added 
to the west wing in the 1940s. The original six-over-six windows with plain 
moulding are extant on the second floor. At the northwest corner a two-story 
extension was also added to enlarge the kitchen and extend the upper bedroom. 

'North Elevation 

This facade is approximately 80 feet long with five bays. Its west end is 
the 1940s projecting extension and has french doors and a wrought iron balcony. 
Walking east toward Adams Street, the next bay is the end of the 19th century 
Victorian wing. The main block of the house comprises the next three bays. A 
porte-cochere is centered over the back entranc~which has a brick stoop with 
three steps. The porte-cochere is a:corecent addittion; .it has .three f:l1ee.,.-standing 
ta:PeredDovic columns on brick piers and two engaged columns. These columns were 
custom-milled to match the existing columns on the front portico. 

The clapboard siding on this facade is of three different varieties, 
reflecting the three additions to this house. The original notched log framing 
with its beaded clapboard is extant, and some of the logs are visible over the 
back entrance. Between 1880-1930 a one room, 2-story addition was attached to 
this facade. This addition was removed and moved to. the next lot north and 
served as the basis for the construction of 108 North Adams house. Alteration 
of the window framing and size and repairs to the framing are evident at this 
point where the section was removed. 

The windows are six-over-one in the Victorian and nine-over-six in the two 
bay east end. Some shutters remain that are partially paneled with louvres on 
the upper half. 

Interior - Original 1825 House 

The 1825 plan is a symmetrical center hall plan with two rooms 20 feet 
square on each floor. The center hall has eight foot ceilings with plaster 
walls. The flooring throughout is random width yellow pine. In the entry hall 
the floor material is of boards salvaged from the two other rooms on this· floor; 
traces of red paint are evident on some of the boards. All flooring on the 
second level is original. 

The stairway is against the. right side hall wall. This open string rises 
over a paneled wall and has square, plain newel post and balustrade. 

The four fireplaces in the original section have been enlarged to meet fire 
codes. The marble mantel in the east room, first floor is a replacement. The 
other three mantels may be the original ones or compatible replacements, their 
wooden surrounds and moulding "of the period" and corresponding to door and 
window moulding. 



Description - 106 N. Adams Street - Rockville, MD 
(continued) 

Interior - Original 1825 House (continued) 
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The second floor now has a modern bathroom at the head of. the stairs. The 
doors leading from this section to the Victorian wing from the west bedroom are 
vertical board and batten, as are the closet doors. A narrow stairway leads to 
the attic, its construction much like the main stairway. 

Outbuildings 

A modern brick paved driveway enters from Adams Street and runs 90 feet to 
the outbuilding. This very long building echoes the .L-shape of the house. It 
serves as garage, studio, workshop and office. It was constructed over many 
stages and is of stone over cinder block. Its most interesting features are 
its adornments! a pedimented gable-roofed with pilastered and fan-lit garage 
entrance, Gothic cupola/clock, and Georgian dentiled cornices, an assemblage 
of "period" ornaments that Mr. Barnes had collected. 

Two earlier entrances to the property are marked by a brick step (south of 
the house on Adams Street) and by two stone pillars with a Chippendale style 
wooden gate (on the south property line) • 

The property features many mature locust, walnut, and hickory trees, 
~ Chinese holly bushes and other mature trees. There are flowers and shrubs 

planted in stone circles near the house. 

Comments: 

1. TW:o silhouette drawings mapping the town show the house. They are attached, 
and show the north side annex that was removed. They also show the config­
uration of the west side wing. Although the 1890 Plat of Beall's Subdivison 
shows the other porches, it does not show the front portico. However, an 
earlier portico or smaller porch may have been present in the early 19th century. 

2. Wilbur Barnes, who owned the house for thirty years between 1941 and 1973, 
did much restoration, reconstruction work on the house. He replaced some 
of the components with compatible ones that he transplanted from period 
houses in other states. For this reason, it is impossible to determine 
whether all of the windows, mantels, doors and hardware are original to 
this site or were removed here from other houses. 



\8~. Significance Survey No. M: 26/10/13 · 

Period 
__ prehistoric 
/~ 1400-1499 

- 1500-1599 
_ 1600-1699 
_ 1700-1799 
_1L1soo-1899 
-tL 1900-

Areas of Significance-Check and justify below 
__ archeology-prehistoric __ community planning __ landscape architecture~eligion 
__ archeology-historic __ conservation __ law · __ science 
__ .agriculture __ economics __ literature __ sculpture 
-1L'8rchitecture __ education __ military ~cial/ 
__ art __ engineering __ music humanitarian 
__ commerce __ exploration/settlement __ philosophy __ theater 
__ communications __ industry __ politics/government __ transpo~ation 

-- invention __ other (specify) 

Specific dates 18215 · 1860s· 1909 Builder/ Architect 

check: Applicable Criteria: A B c D 
and/or 

Applicable Exception: A B c D E F G 

Level of Significance: national v'State ,_/"local - -
Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a geAeral statement of history and 
support. \ 

The house at 106 North Adams Street is a vernacular expression of Federal Period 
architecture with later mid-19th century Victorian and early 20th Century Classical 
Revival modifications. This log-framed, c!apboard-covered house is the only remaining 
frame house in Rockville constructed in the 1820s. Its association as the residence for 
twenty years of the first Baptist minister in town followed by 80. years of ownership by 
the powerful Peter family, make it a noteworthy part of Rockville's cultural, political 
and sociological history. Its current owners have been renovating and reconstructing this 
large house for 10 years; much of the original features and detailing_ from 1825, as well 
as the later 1860s addition, are extant. 

I 

Upton Beall (Clerk of the circuit court for Montgomery County, 1795-1827) began buying 
contiguous lots bordering the western limits of Williamsburgh (later Rockville) in 1794. 
He gradually amassed lots numbering 57-68, and in 1812-15.he built his Federal style brick 
mansion on lots 59 and 60. 106 North Adams lies north of his house on parts of lots 63 & 64 
which Beall purchased from the heirs of the Williams family in two separate transactions. 
Thomas o. Williams sold Beall lots 63 and 67, one acre each, for $60.00 in 1813. Edward O. 
Williams sold Beall lots 61,64,66 & 68 in 1815 for $120.00. Beall would keep lots 63 & 64 
until 1825.1 

In 1821, the Baptist Church recognized the organization of a new congregation to be 
centered in Rockville and called "Bethel Baptist Church". The elders chose 23-year-old 
Joseph H. Jones as the pastor. Rev. Jones had married Elizabeth Clagett of Montgomery 
County and, settled in Rockville, where he carried out a mercantile trade, including his own 
trade of silver-plater. 2 The fledgling group of Baptists purchased land just west of the 
town limits for a Church and adjoining Cemetery in 1823 (Survey Site 26/l0/2S) . 

R~v. ·Jones. purchased jhe east half of lots .63 & 64 fronting on Adams Street from Upton 
Beall in 1825 for $110 .00 •· While the. price paid by Jones was slightly hi9her than some, 
but not all, unimproved lots in Rockville at that time, there is no evidence of any 
structure on these lots at the time of the. purchase, nor is an older structure apparent 
within the house that Jones built. 

The main body of the Jones house is a two-story, four-room Federal style house with 
Greek Revival detailing, framed with hewn, squared logs, notched and chinked with a lime and 
G)~v plaster. Over this framework, beaded clapboards were

1 

nailed. It is a cross hall plan 
' • two rooms on each floor, with fireplaces rising to interior chimneys, and a cellar 
located under one room. 

(Continued) 
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From this house, Rev. Jones served, the four churches on his circuit, spending 
one.Sunday each at Up:£:>er Seneca, Linganore and Pleasant Valley, in addition to 
Rockville, a monthly horseback trip of 164 miles. 4 During his twenty years at 
Rockville, Rev. Jones' name appears in various documents relating to his pastorate, 
including notices of weddings that appear in the early newspapers and his part in 
the formation of the County Bible Society in 1828. 

Rev. Jones was also the owner of a 300-acre farm. The 1831 Tax Records value 
his house on Adams Street, ''Parts of lots 63 & 64, improved,~ acre •.• $512.50". 
The 300-acre farm was worth slightly over a dollar an acre, and unimproved. 
Born at the Adams Street house during the 1830s were two sons, who would achieve 
prominence: J.H.C. Jones would return to Virginia, the land of his father's 
family, and become a judge. Spencer c. Jones was born in 1836 and moved away 
with his family at the age of nine. He would return to Rockville after the Civil 
War, when he would be elected Town Commissioner and then Mayor, State's Attorney 
and finally, leader of the Democratic Party in Montgomery County. (Ironically, 
Mr. Jones was a protege of George Peter, who owned this house from 1859-1893. 
He split with his political mentor and.took over the party leadership after 1889.) 5 

Rev. Jones resigned his Rockville pastorate in 1845 and moved to Frederick, 
Maryland, but continued to preach at the upper County churches, and during the 
Civil War he organized the Barnesville Church. Rev. Jones never returned to 
Rockville, though he held his property here for several years. The Adams Street 
house was not sold until 1857. From 1858-59, it was owned by Ann Hempstone, 
widow of George Hempstone. Her trustees sold "the house and lot purchased for 
the use of Ann Hempstone and Anna v. Hempstone" to Eliza Peter "through her husband 
George". The price paid was $1,672.00, but for some reason, this 1859 deed was not 
recorded until after the death of George Peter in 1893.6 

George Peter (Jr.) was the scion of one of the County's most aristocratic and 
illustrious families. He was the grandsonof Robert Peter, the Georgetown "Merchant 
Prince", the largest landowner west of Rock.Creek and the first Mayor of Washington 
City (1787). George Peter, Sr. served in the military from 1779 to 1806 and attained 
the rank of captain. He volunteered his services without pay in 1813 and continued his 
distinguished career. Major George Peter was elected to serve in the House of Delegates 
in 1818 and 1823, the first Democrat to be elected from the heretofore Federalist County. 
In 1827, Major George Peter sold his Georgetown lands and retired to his Montgomery 
County estate, Montanverde (Site 24/24); his son George, Jr. was born there in 1829 of 
his third wife. The Major played an important role in Democratic politics the rest of 
his life, when his son inherited the mantle of leadership.7 

After the death of the Major in 1861, George Peter, Jr. began selling much of 
the extensive Darnestown:area estate. One of the advertisements he placed for the 
sale of the lands states: "finding it impossible to continue farming with other engage­
ments will sell farm and; adjoining residence of late Major G. Peter, 360 acres, apple 
orchard and chestnut timber, 2 miles from C&O Canal 1 l~ miles from Seneca Mills. "8 

,--. Another newspaper notice:. dated January 5, 1866, states that a Miss Poulson. was. "Offering 
limited education of young ladies at the residence of George Peter, Esq., village of 
Rockville." It is assumed from this that the several young daughters of the Peters were 
being tutored and other suitable students were sought. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE - 106 N. Adams St., Rockville, MD (Continued) 

Mr. and Mrs. Peter (called Lavenia) had seven children who reached maturity. 
Th'e house on Adams Street was enlarged by the addition of a two-story wing at the 
west end, and a twol"'story, one bay annex on the north .. side of the house. This 
configuration of the.house appears on the 1879 Hopkins.Atlas (copy attached). 

George Peter had a lucrative law practice and was highly re::;;pected. In 1867 1 

he was elected Town Commissioner, but declined to serve, instead becoming State's 
Attorney. He was twice elected State Senator in 1885 and 1887, and in 1887 was 

·elected President of the State Senate.9 

The Peter children became lawyers and judges, and the daughters each married 
lawyers, one of whom became a judge. Mary Alice Peter married Thomas Daw$on, who 
became Clerk of the Circuit Court in 1897; the house passed to them in 1909. 

The 1910 Tax Assessment valued the Adams Street property at $700, plus $1,500 
improvements. The colonnaded portico now running the full 50-foot length of the 
main body of the house was probably added by the Dawsons. in the early 20th century, 
as it is in the Classical Revival style popular in those years. In addition, tl:le 
portico does not appear in an 1890 Plat of Beall 's Subdivision (attached) in which 
silhouette drawings of the houses on Adams and Commerce Streets are shown. In the 
drawing of 106, the north wing has been enlarged and a porch faces Adams Street, 
and another porch faces north at the end of the west wing.10 

~· The house passed out of the Peter family with its purchase by Guy Carter in 
1930; the land then totalled 1.455 acres. Prior to Mr. Carter's ownership, the 
DawsonS(Peter heirs) removed the north two-room annex and moved it several feet 
north to constitute the basis for the house at 108 N. Adams. 

Wilbur J. Barnes purchased the property in 194111 and lived there for 31 years. 
During that time, he did extensive renovation and reconstruction to the old house. 
Where possible, he replaced damaged and worn architectural elements with compatible 
elements "of the period". He transplanted to this house window glass, hardware, 
fireplace mantles and other materials that he found in old houses in Maryland and 
Virginia. While many of his reconstructions are "correct", some of the work he did 
makes it impossible to determine what is original to the 1825 house on this site 
and what is foreign. Mr. Barnes also enlarged the kitchen and bedroom on the 
northwest corner and added the west side screened porch. He.built a long L-shaped 
garage, cum studio, office and workshop with dentiled mouldings, gothic cupola, 
fan-lighted garage door and other multi-period detailings. 

The present owners, Lee and Betsy Muth, purchased the house in 197512 and have 
spent ten years in reconstruction and restoration work, including new roof and new 
beams under the two east rooms to replace the termite-ridden, unfinished log beams. 
The porte-cochere on the north side has Doric tapered columns constructed to match 
those on the south side. Much of the house was taken down to the log and stud walls 
and put up again. Some of the original details (like the horsehair plaster) were 
not easily duplicated but were reconstructed as near as possible to the or.iginal. 
The Muths have attempted to restore the house where possible, to reconstruct the 
house where practicable, and to adapt the house for 20th century living while 
retaining its 19th century character. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE - 106 N. Adams Street, Rockville, MD 
(continued) 

FOOTNOTES: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

Montgomery County Land Records, Q/421 (1813) and S/178 (1815). 

History of Baptist Churches in Maryland, published by J.F. Weishamfel, Jr., 
Baltimore. (1885) pp 69-72. 

Land Records, X/508 (1825). 

Weischamfel, p. 70. 

Richard K. MacMaster & Ray E. Hiebert, Grateful Remembrance, Montgomery 
County Government, (1976), pp. 199 and 259. 

Land Records, JA 40/55 dated 1859, recorded 1893. 

Portrait and Biographical Record of the Sixth Congressional District, 
Chapman Publishing, (1898), pp. 639-641. 

One farm was advertised in 1862. The quoted ad appears in the Montgomery. 
County Sentinel, February 27, 1863. 

McMaster, op cit. , p. 198. 

10. This Plat is dated August, 1890 from a survey by G. M. Anderson. It is 
Plat 23e of the Montgomery County Historical Society collection. 

11. Land Records 857/498 (1941) • 

12. The Muths purchased the house in conjunction with Arthur Wagman in 1975, 
but bought out Mr. Wagman in 1978. 
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